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This essay explores the experiences and debates survounding preparatory schools

for Chinese students in the United States at the turn of the twentieth century.
These institutions attempted to expand educational opportunities for poorer
Chinese students who might otherwise not have had a chance to go to school; how-
ever, most of these childven also had families in the United States, who supported
their childven’s education but also needed their help to sustain their families.
American laws banned most forms of Chinese immigration, and families had
to carefully maneuver through federal policies to enter the country as students,
often turning to European Americans-who were invested in expanding U.S.
involvement in China-for support. Because of anti-Chinese sentiments, consular
and immigration authorities questioned these programs, making them difficult to
sustain. Ultimately, the interactions between immigration and consular officials,
education boosters, and Chinese students were integral to the development of pre-
paratory schools for other international students in the twentieth century.

In 1913, Spanish professor Caroline H. Ober wrote the University of
Washington Board of Regents about developing preparatory programs
for Chinese students in the United States. In attempting to establish
such programs, Ober explained the significance of international edu-
cation, including specialized institutions for Chinese. She noted that at
every school she had visited during her travels to Hong Kong and
Guangzhou (Canton), she found “the same intense desire for “The
Western Learning’—our learning.” The US, however, competed
with other countries for educational influence. “The country
[China] will have the modern education eventually; if we do not
respond, other nations will improve the opportunity to establish
their influence there, but just at present there is no nation as admirable
as the United States in the eyes of China.” Ober continued, tying
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education to the development of positive diplomatic relations and
trade: “We never had a better chance—we never can have—than
this present one for influence, influencing a mighty nation already
well disposed in our favor for the great things of International
Peace, Education, Trade [emphasis in the original].”!

Turn-of-the-century promoters of international education such
as Ober claimed recruiting foreign students, especially Chinese, to
American colleges and universities was integral to the expansion of
American influence overseas. The US, however, initially failed to rec-
ognize the colonial possibilities of international education. Other
countries first established programs in China, creating relationships
among educated elites that, in turn, facilitated political, social, and eco-
nomic power. Japan, which created a scholarship program in 1898 as
part of its reparations for the Sino-Japanese War, recruited the largest
numbers of Chinese students by the beginning of the twentieth cen-
tury. Physical proximity, especially in comparison to travel to the
US and Western Europe, also made studying in Japan easier for stu-
dents. At the same time, Western European nations, which had carved
up China’s coastline, aCtlvely recruited students to attend their under-
graduate and graduate programs, using their institutional prestige to
entice the Chinese.? Throughout the world, boosters of international
education recognized the expertise of European-trained scholars,
especially in the sciences, and hoped that such knowledge would facil-
itate China’s modernization under the auspices of European
colonialism.?

Competing with well-established programs in Japan and Western
Europe, American educators and their supporters demanded an “open
door” to develop international education programs in China.* They
believed that student and faculty interactions promoted intercultural
understanding and, by extension, positive international relations. The
rhetoric of racial uplift, which they hoped would shape China into a

"Caroline H. Ober to Board of Regents, Nov. 13, 1913, University of
Washington Office of the President Records, folder 8, box 130, Special Collections,
University of Washington, Seattle, WA (hereafter Office of the President Records).

%Carol Huang, The Soft Power of U.S. Education and the Formation of a Chinese
American  Intellectual  Community in  Urbana-Champaign, 1905-1954 (PhD diss,,
University of Illinois, Urbana-Champaign, 2001).

*Martha Hanna, “French Women and American Men: ‘Foreign’ Students at the
University of Paris, 1915-1925,” French Historical Studies 22, no. 1 (Winter 1999), 87—
112; Daniel T. Rodgers, Atlantic Crossings: Social Politics in a Progressive Age(Cambridge,
MA: Belknap Press, 2000), 76-111; and Anja Werner, The Transatlantic World of Higher
Education: Americans at German Un tversities, 1776—1914 (New York: Berghahn Books,
2013).

*Huang, The Soft Power of U.S. Education, 52, 76-77.
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modern nation, also justified overseas recruitment.’ Even American
manufacturers argued that training students with American products
and equipment would promote international trade relations.
Unfortunately, unlike other nations, supporters of international educa-
tion in the US faced immigration policies that required Chinese stu-
dents to navigate rigorous regulations to enter the country. The
Chinese Exclusion Act (1882) and subsequent amendments did not
ban students outright; however, students had to prove to federal
authorities that their desire to attend schools in the US was not a
ploy to evade American immigration laws. No other group of interna-
tional students faced such stringent restrictions at the time. Ironically,
American colonial aspirations and anti-Chinese immigration policies,
while emerging from the same racist ideology, undercut each other
when it came to promoting international education.

A handful of scholars have analyzed the experiences of Chinese
students in American higher education in the nineteenth and twentieth
centuries. These students, many of whom were brought to the US by
missionaries, received a Western education along with the theological
teachings of their respective Christian sponsors. For example, Yung
Wing, the first Chinese student to graduate from an American univer-
sity, came from a poor family, but traveled to the US and graduated
from Yale College. Others, who participated in government-funded
programs, came from elite families that expected their sons (and a
few daughters) to become future leaders in China’s modernization.
American nativism and exclusionary law, however, soured their expe-
riences, leading to criticisms of American immigration policies and
society in general. Nevertheless, many returned home and strove to
promote the ideas and practices they had learned overseas, including
new technologies, economic policies, government structures, social
roles, and Protestant Christianity. In the US, students were one of
the few exempted classes under the Chinese Exclusion Act, making
overseas recruitment a possibility. Educators and their supporters,
however, struggled to reconcile immigrant regulations that adversely
targeted Chinese seeking educational opportunities. The combination
of ideas and practices found in international education, particularly for

°Y. C. Wang, Chinese Intellectuals and the West, 1872—1949 (Chapel Hill: University
of North Carolina Press, 1966); Weili Ye, Secking Modernity in China’s Name: Chinese
Students in the United States, 1900-1927 (Palo Alto, CA: Stanford University Press,
2001); Hongshan Li, U.S.-China Educational Exchange: State, Sociery, and Intercultural
Relations, 1905—1950 (New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press, 2008); Stacey
Bieler, “Patriots” or “Traitors™ A History of American Educated Chinese Students
(Armonk, NY: M. E. Sharpe, 2009); and Madeline Y. Hsu, The Good Immigrants: How
the Yellow Peril Became the Model Minority (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press,
2015), 21-80.
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Chinese students, in the early twentieth century generated what his-
torians Paul Kramer and Liping Bu have argued as a particular form of
American imperialism.°

Despite the wealth of historical literature on elite Chinese stu-
dents, none focus on the handful of American educators who estab-
lished preparatory schools geared toward younger, less affluent
students in the early twentieth century.” These institutions recruited
students who were underprepared to attend American schools, offer-
ing them English-language training and other foundational skills to
help them succeed in American education. After a year of instruction,
students then transferred to public or private schools or applied to col-
lege. Supporters believed Chinese preparatory schools expanded
opportunities for Chinese who might not otherwise have access to
an education. Like their more well-to-do peers, these students were
also expected to return home and assist in China’s modernization
and build a more positive relationship between China and the US.8

Preparatory schools had an additional significance: they
allowed families to circumvent the Chinese exclusion laws and send
children—who were otherwise banned—to the United States.
Because of the bias language that immigrant inspectors used, it is
often difficult to tease out the intentions of school organizers, parents,
and students, almost all of whom portions of the public and the federal
government viewed as frauds. Based on Immigration Bureau reports,
families gave recruiters large amounts of money to obtain student visas
for these programs, often paying additional monies for preparatory

Paul A. Kramer, “Beneath Lecture: Is the World Our Campus? International
Students and U.S. Global Power in the Long Twentieth Century,” Diplomatic
History 33, no.5 (Nov. 2009), 775-806; and Liping Bu, Making the World Like Us:
Education, Cultural Expansion, and the American Century (Westport, CT: Praeger, 2003).

"In this essay, “preparatory schools” are private institutions either established or
expanded to include special training for Chinese students between the ages of 11 and
20. They are similar to immersive language-training programs today. This idea is dis-
tnct from the other usage of preparatory or “prep” schools, which are private (usually
elite and expensive) high schools that train students for college. In 1913, the commis-
sioner-general in Seattle called these programs “Chinese preparatory schools.” Ellis
DeBruler to William B. Wilson, memo, April 30, 1913, file 53, 620-75, box 1831,
entry 9, RG 85, Records of the Immigration and Naturalization Service, National
Archives, Washington, DC (hereafter Immigration and Naturalization Service Files).

¥ Although beyond the periodization of this study, preparatory programs geared
toward Chinese students in “developed countries,” including the US, have expanded
significantly in the early twenty-first century. T hese programs, although viewed with
some ambivalence, continue to be seen as an opportunity for Chinese students and
their families. See Vanessa Fong, Paradise Redefined: Transnational Chinese Students and
the Quest for Flexible Citizenship in the Developed World (Palo Alto, CA: Stanford
University Press, 2011).

ssa.d Aussanun abprquied Aq auljuo paysiignd z'gL0z'bay/z 1oL 0L/b10"10p//:sdny


https://doi.org/10.1017/heq.2018.2

Immigration Restrictions and International Education 265

classes in China. The majority of children then attended preparatory
programs in the US for only a short period of time before leaving to
find relatives. A few never arrived at preparatory schools and presum-
ably went directly to their families once admitted into the country.
Based on limited correspondence, some students clearly wanted an
education, but none spoke of returning to China and assisting in its
modernization. Like “paper” sons and daughters who entered the
country on falsified documents, these children planned to stay and
pursue opportunities in the US.”

The arrival of large numbers of children to attend preparatory
schools alarmed the Immigration Bureau, which oversaw implement-
ing the Chinese exclusion laws. For program organizers, Seattle oper-
ated as the preferred port of entry, usually avoiding the more infamous
Angel Island, which had gained notoriety for its screening process. The
Pacific Northwest, as Kornel Chang argues in Pacific Connections, was
also central to the development of American colonial endeavors in
East Asia, in part because of its connection to the Canadian border
and, by extension, the British Empire. T'o meet their political and eco-
nomic goals, white merchants, both Canadian and American, had to
work with Chinese American elites to hire laborers for the local econ-
omy and open overseas markets for American goods. These mediators,
however, also promoted their own agendas, including finding ways to
undermine the Chinese Exclusion Act.!® Nevertheless, immigration
officials in Seattle inspected programs and investigated personnel
and families. Charges of possible profiteering soon emerged, with
authorities believing that large amounts of money were being
exchanged. Because most students did not complete the programs,
the federal government also presumed the children were laborers
and sought to deport them. Ultumately, preparatory schools lost their
standing to sponsor Chinese students because of the murkiness of their
purposes.!!

“Mae M. Ngai, “Legacies of Exclusion: Illegal Chinese Immigration during the
Cold War Years,” Journal of American Ethnic History 18, no. 1 (Fall 1998), 3-35;
Madeline Y. Hsu, Dreaming of Gold, Dreaming of Home: Transnationalism and Migration
berween the United States and South China, 1882—1943 (Stanford, CA: Stanford University
Press, 2000), 74-87; Erika Lee, Ar America’s Gates: Chinese Immigration during the
Exclusion Era, 1882—1943 (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 2003),
4-7,197-206; and Mae M. Ngai, Impossible Subjects: lllegal Aliens and the Making of
Modern America (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2004), 202-24.

'Kornel Chang, Pacific Connections: 'The Making of the U.S.-Canadian Borderlands
(Berkeley: University of California Press, 2012).

" Erika Lee and Judy Yung, Angel Island- Immigrant Gateway to America(New York:
Oxford University Press, 2010), 29—-109; and Him Lai, Genny Lim, and Judy Yung,
eds., Island: Poetry and History of Chinese Immigrants on Angel Island, 1910—1940 (Seattle:
University of Washington Press, 1991), 8-29.
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This essay explores the discourse surrounding the establishment
of Chinese preparatory schools in the US and the diverse partners who
participated in the endeavor. While the stated goals of these institu-
tions were to expand educational opportunities and promote racial
uplift, they also facilitated the migration of children whose families
already lived in the US and might have different priorities. With
American laws banning most forms of Chinese immigration, families
understood they had to carefully navigate federal officials to legally
enter the country, often turning to European American advocates
for assistance. Of course, consular and immigration authorities ques-
tioned every aspect of these preparatory schools and made them diffi-
cult to sustain. The ambiguity of student participation in preparatory
schools only compounded the problems of supporting an educational
institution while wrestling with consular and immigration officials’
expectations. Ultimately, these interactions between immigration offi-
cials, international education boosters, and Chinese students were
integral to the development of preparatory schools for international
students in the US in the early twentieth century.

Chinese Exclusion and the Definition of a “Student”

A series of exclusionary laws and regulations at the turn of the twen-
tieth century allowed the Immigration Bureau to control all aspects of
Chinese immigration, including the entrance of students. And—unlike
other international students—only Chinese had to navigate a series of
bureaucratic hurdles to prove they were not entering the US under
false pretenses. The initial Chinese Exclusion Act, which barred labor-
ers from entering the country for ten years, did not mention students.
Students continued to hold an exempt status from the 1880 Angell
Treaty, which listed students among a handful of other groups that
could “go and come of their own free will and accord, and shall be
accorded all the rights, privileges, immunities, and exemptions
which are accorded to the citizens and subjects of the most favored
nation.”!? Later amendments to the Chinese Exclusion Act affirmed
the exempt status of students under the ban; however, they did not pro-
tect students from scrutiny. American immigration law required that
students obtain a Section 6 certificate, a document signed by an
American consulate officer verifying their status. Upon arrival in the
U.S, custom officials and, later, immigration authorities screened all
students attempting legal entry at designated ports, reviewing their

"?Treaty between the United States and China, Concerning Immigration, U.S.-
China, Nov. 17, 1880, 22 Stat. 827. This treaty is also known as the Angell Treaty of
1880.
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certificates for fraud.!’ This elaborate system, federal authorities
believed, would mitigate the immigration of unwanted individuals.

Even with a Section 6 certificate, immigration authorities might
not admit a student. Laws or treaties provided no definition of a stu-
dent, and it was left to individual inspectors to determine whom to
admit. At tmes, the anti-Chinese movement drove the inspector’s
decision-making process. In Ar America’s Gates, Erika Lee documents
an 1885 incident in which San Francisco’s custom collector tried to
bar two Chinese students from entering the country because of threats
of violence. The Department of Treasury ordered its San Francisco
office to permit the students into the country.!*

Other students had fewer problems with legal entry. In 1895, the
Chicago Tribune reported extensively on the arrival of four students at
the University of Michigan, the first Chinese to attend the school.
Immigration authorities quickly admitted them with their missionary
sponsors, even though the two male students required preparatory
work and language training.!” A year later, Huie Kin, a well-known
Chinese American Presbyterian minister in New York City, recruited
a group of teenagers to attend a private academy in Metuchen, New
Jersey. The program, paid for by their parents, prepared the young
men to pursue higher education in the US.!'¢ In at least these two
instances, the pursuit of college- or university-level education was
not required for student status under the Chinese Exclusion Act; how-
ever, assistance from missionaries made it difficult for authorities to
deny legal entry.

By the end of the nineteenth century, immigration authorities
finally defined who could obtain student status under the Chinese
Exclusion Act, with clear class limitations. In United States v. Chu
Chee (1899), the federal government argued that the children of labor-
ers, even those legally domiciled in the US, were not students under
the law. In the mid-1890s, two boys were permitted to enter the coun-
try and lived with their father, a laundryman, in Eugene, Oregon.
Although they attended school, they did not have Section 6 certificates.
Rather, they possessed documents from the US consulate at Hong

Y1ee, Ar America’s Gates, 4445, 77-78; Treaty between the United States and
China, 826-27; and An Act to Execute Certain Treaty Stipulations Relating to
Chinese, U.S.-China, 22 Stat. 58-61 (1882). This act is commonly known as the
Chinese Exclusion Act.

"“Lee, At America’s Gates, 51.

!3¢Chinese Students at Ann Arbor,” Chicago Daily Tribune, Dec. 30, 1895, 5.

'%“Found a Corpse in the Vessel,” San Francisco Call, June 17,1896, 7; “Progress of
the Kingdom,” Congregationalist 81 no. 33 (Aug. 13, 1896), 230; “Chinese Boys Happy,”
The (Dodge City, KS) Globe Republican, Oct. 1, 1896, 2; and “Rev. Huie Kin, 80, Is Dead in
Peiping,” New York Times, Jan. 23, 1934, 19.
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Kong stating, “T'hey are going to the United States in response to a call,
as alleged, of their father, a resident of Eugene, Oregon, for the purpose
ofacquiring an English education.”!” Aftera couple of years of living in
Oregon, immigration officials arrested the teenagers because they
never obtained Section 6 certificates. US District Court Judge
Charles B. Bellinger ruled in favor of the boys in 1898: as long as
they attended school, then they could remain, even without proper
documentation. In contrast to women who, by the principle of couver-
ture, assumed the status of their husbands, Bellinger believed that the
status of these children as students “does not depend upon ancestry or
family relation,” including their father’s occupation as a laborer.!
Immigration officials, concerned about the legal precedent this ruling
might generate, appealed the case to the Ninth Circuit, where Judge
William W. Morrow overturned Bellinger’s decision.!”

The same year that the US Court of Appeals ruled in United States
v. Chu Chee (1899), the Immigration Bureau issued its first student reg-
ulations, greatly curtailing who could enter. The three main compo-
nents stipulated that students (1) must be under twenty-one years of
age, (2) have previously attended school, and (3) must submit the
name of the school they planned to attend in the US.?° A year later,
the Treasury Department introduced further regulations curtailing
the entry of Chinese students. Although the new regulations had no
age limitations, it included the following language:

A person (1) who intends to pursue some of the higher branches of study,
or who seeks to be fitted for some particular profession or occupation (2)
for which facilities of study are not afforded in his own country; (3) for
whose support and maintenance in this country, as a student, provision
has been made, and (4) who, upon completion of his studies, expects to
return to China?!

By 1900, only students from wealthy families, pursuing a degree not
offered in China, and planning to return home, could study in the US.

The new definition led to a surge of criticisms about American
immigration policy from both sides of the Pacific Ocean. The bulk
of anger about immigration restrictions, however, targeted the efforts
of the Immigration Bureau, then under a commissioner who repre-
sented white labor interests, to keep out all Chinese. Newspapers,

"7United States. v. Chu Chee et al,, 93 F.R. 797 (1899).

'8 United States. v. Chu Chee et al,, 87 F.R. 312 (1898).

'“United States. v. Chu Chee et al,, 93 F.R. 797 (1899).

Li, U.S.-China Educational Exchange, 29-30.

*!Committee on Foreign Affairs, Exclusion of Chinese Laborers, S. Doc. No.
57-162 at 7 (1902).
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for example, reported extensively on the hardships of two students,
Kong Xiangxi (K'ung Hsiang-hsi) and Fei Qihe (Fei Chi Ho), who
had protected Americans during the anti-Western violence of the
Boxer Uprisings and subsequently applied to attend Oberlin
College. Even with help from missionaries and Oberlin’s president,
Kong and Fei had to fight the flimsy evidence that the Bureau used
to bar them from legal entry for a year and a half:??

The debates on renewing the Chinese Exclusion Act in 1902 and
subsequent discussions about the law infuriated those who supported
Chinese students and were demanding change. During the Committee
on Immigration’s hearings in the US Senate, individuals spoke against
the new regulations and requested that the US Congress amend cur-
rent laws to permit more students to come to the US. Clarence Cary of
the American China Development Company testified about a conver-
sation with an American educator in Shanghai, who had told Cary that,
although he wanted to send graduates from his institution to the US, he
decided to refer them to British schools where there were no restric-
tions.?? Edmund J. James, the president of the University of Illinois,
wrote the administration of Theodore Roosevelt on several occasions
about the importance of developing international education programs
in China to raise the reputation of his institution and American higher
education generally. He, along with other college and university
administrators, called for extending the US’s Open Door Policy to
education, not only to facilitate recruitment efforts throughout
China but also to enable their legal entry with limited federal
intervention.”*

Chinese also openly condemned the stringent enforcement of
American immigration laws that made it impossible even for exempted
individuals to enter the US. In response to years of humiliating treat-
ment by American immigration officials, who frequently refused to
recognize their documentation, students and merchants in China orga-
nized boycotts in 1905 of American goods and businesses. The
New York Times reported that six hundred students from twenty-six
different colleges met in Tientsin to approve the boycott, with the
goal of “secur[ing] the repeal of the more oppressive provisions of

**“Passports Signed by Li Hung Chang,” Washington Post, Sept. 27, 1901, 3; and
“Chinese Students Admitted,” Washington Post, Jan. 13,1903, 4. See also Li, U.S.-China
FEducational Exchange, 30-31.

»*Committee on Immigration, Chinese Exclusion:Testimony Taken Before the
Committee on Immigration, United States Senate on Senate Bill 2960 and Certain Other Bills
before the Committee Providing for the Exclusion of Chinese Laborers, S. Rep. No. 57-776, Part
2'at 17-18 (1902).

**Huang, The Soft Power of U.S. Education, 26-29.
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our anti-Chinese laws and fair fulfillment of the terms of the treaty
with China.”??

Strained diplomatic relations, embarrassment in the press, lobby-
ing efforts from educators and their supporters, and the boycott forced
President Roosevelt to change the way the Immigration Bureau oper-
ated. In a June 1905 letter, Roosevelt told Victor Metcalf, the secretary
of commerce and labor, to “issue specific and rigid instructions to the
officials of the Immigration Bureau that we will [not] tolerate discour-
tesy or hard treatment in connection with the Chinese merchant, trav-
eler, or student.”*® By December, Roosevelt admitted in a speech to
Congress that American regulations had caused the boycott and that
a “grave injustice and wrong have been done by this Nation to the peo-
ple of China.”>” Roosevelt asked Congress to pass legislation to
improve the treatment of Chinese merchants and students.

In the meantime, the Immigration Bureau liberalized its under-
standing of what it meant to be a student. Frank P. Sargent, commis-
sioner of immigration, wrote a memorandum for the secretary of
commerce and labor explaining the history of Chinese students and
American immigration law. Most importantly, he noted that the
Bureau’s definition did not match popularly held beliefs that students
included children of all ages, educational levels, and incomes. Even
prior to Roosevelt’s request, the Bureau had attempted to remove
key phrases in its regulations to allow more Chinese students to
enter the country; however, these revisions were never published.”®

A query about regulations from the consulate office at Guangzhou
added additional pressure to the Bureau. Three boys who planned to
live with a family in Battle Creek, Michigan, and attend school there
had applied for Section 6 certificates. Their grandfather, a retired
teacher, hoped the boys would obtain a better education in the US
and eventually go to college. The consulate felt their application
was legitimate but wanted approval from the Immigration Bureau

Z“The Chinese Boycott,” New York Times, June 21, 1905, 6.

*Theodore Roosevelt to Victor Howard Metcalf, June 16, 1905, in The Letters of
Theodore Roosevelt: 'The Years of Preparation, vol. 4, ed. Elting E. Morison (Cambridge,
MA: Harvard University Press, 1951), 1235.

*"Theodore Roosevelt, Fifth Annual Message, Dec. 5, 1905, American Presidency
Project, http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid=29546&st=China&stl.

8T he new 1905 definition read as such: “A Chinese student, within the intention
of the treaty of November 17, 1880, and the laws, is a person who intends to pursue
some of the higher branches ofstudy, or to become fitted by a study for some profes-
sion or occupation, and for whose support and maintenance in this country, as a stu-
dent, provision has been made.” Frank P. Sargent, “Memorandum for the Secretary,”
Jan. 5,1907, file 52, 75360, box, 802, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration Naturalization and
Service Files.

ssa.d Aussanun abprquied Aq auljuo paysiignd z'gL0z'bay/z 1oL 0L/b10"10p//:sdny


http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid=29546&amp;st=China&amp;st1
http://www.presidency.ucsb.edu/ws/index.php?pid=29546&amp;st=China&amp;st1
https://doi.org/10.1017/heq.2018.2

Immigration Restrictions and International Education 271

before responding to their request.’” Sargent, facing pressure from
Roosevelt and the consulate office in Guangzhou to liberalize regula-
tions, published a new definition that not only included the 1905 revi-
sions but opened up the possibility of preparatory and primary-level
education “if undertaken in good faith.”*? Poorer, less educated fami-
lies could now send their children to school in the US.

Over a twenty-year period, the US grappled with what it meant to
be a student under American immigration law, with the legal debates
around Chinese students central to its definition. Some officials, who
believed laborers used student status to undermine the Chinese exclu-
sion laws, wanted to limit the ability of Chinese students to study in the
US. A handful of European Americans, however, recognized education
as a means of promoting diplomatic relations and international trade,
especially as they competed with Japanese and Europeans for influ-
ence in China. Chinese at home and in the US were also agents of
change, forcing Roosevelt to take action. By 1907, immigration author-
ities generated a new definition that aligned itself with more popular
notions of who is a student, expanding Chinese educational opportu-
nities and laying the foundation for other international students.

Preparatory Schools and Ida K. Greenlee

The inclusion of preparatory education in the 1907 definition of a stu-
dent had the potential of radically altering the demographics of
Chinese obtaining Section 6 certificates. Few individual families, how-
ever, took advantage of the opportunity. In part, families found it dif-
ficult to provide evidence that they had the required money to support
their children’s schooling.*! Consulates in Hong Kong and
Guangzhou, which feared possible subterfuge among applicants, also
evaluated students to ensure that families were not using the new reg-
ulations to avoid exclusion. Additionally, immigration authorities had
the power to either deport students or require them to pay a bond to
ensure they maintained their student status and did not work. Because
of these hurdles, it was possibly easier for families to have children

L. A. Bergholz to Elihu Root, Nov. 13, 1906, file 52, 753-60, box 802, entry 9,
RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

* Amendments to the Regulations Governing the Admission of Chinese, Feb.
26, 1907, file 52, 753-60, box 802, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization
Service Files.

*' Amendments to the Regulations Governing the Admission of Chinese,
February 26, 1907. For discussions of the bureaucratization of immigration restric-
tion, see Adam McKeown, Melancholy Order: Asian Migration and the Globalization of
Borders (New York: Columbia University Press, 2011).
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enter the country as “paper” sons or daughters, falsely claiming them
to be the son or daughter of a merchant or an American citizen.*?

The issues surrounding these new regulations, however, did not
stop educational entrepreneurs, the majority of whom were European
Americans. With support from Chinese American communities,
whites found ways to use the new regulations to recruit males between
the ages of eleven and twenty to attend US programs, with the goal of
preparing them to enter mainstream American schools. They argued
that these programs would facilitate modernization at a rate much
faster than in China. Recruiters also recognized the profitability of a
large-scale program, charging prospective families hundreds of dollars
for legal entry in addition to educating, feeding, and housing them.
Furthermore, the social and cultural position of whites involved in
these preparatory schools mitigated many of the criticisms from the
Immigration Bureau. The racialized arguments used to increase secur-
ity measures to control Chinese immigration did not apply to
European Americans.

The first and most long-lasting of these programs began in 1909
and was organized by Ng Niehong and his rhetoric professor, Ida
K. Greenlee. Ng (accompanied by wife, Yin Moy Wong) came from
southern China as a student to attend the University of Washington
and later went on to study at Harvard University.** Greenlee, born
in Defiance, Ohio, in 1866, became an English teacher, first working
in Midwestern schools before settling in Seattle around 1900 to
teach high school.* In 1905, the University of Washington hired her
as an assistant professor in the English Department.’

Based on voluminous correspondence with the Immigration
Bureau, soon after the regulations changed, Ng proposed to
Greenlee the idea of establishing a preparatory school in the US for
Chinese students. Greenlee, who had visited China in 1907, went to
the Board of Regents at the University of Washington to request a

**Haiming Liu charts the various immigration statuses that family members had
to navigate in the twentieth century. Haiming Liu, The Transnational History of a
Chinese Family: Immigrant Letters, Family Business, and Reverse Migration (New
Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press, 2005).

Y. M. Wong-Ng to Caroline Ober, Jan. 9, 1911; and Y. M. Wong to Caroline
Ober, postcard, ca. 1914, Caroline Haven Ober Papers, folder 10, box 1, Special
Collections, University of Washington, Seattle, WA (hereafter Ober Papers); and
file 52, 753-12 and 753-13, box 800, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and
Naturalization Service Files.

*“Vacation Will Soon End,” Kansas City (MO) Journal, Sept. 11,1896, 5; “Notes of
Society,” Chicago Daily Tribune, Sept. 3,1895,12; and “The School Board,” Indianapolis
Leader, June 17, 1882, 4.

3 5“Washington Notes,” Kennewick Courier, Sept. 1, 1905, 6.
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Figure 1. Portrait of Ida K. Greenlee ca. 1916. Emergency Passport
Applications: China, #3765, Passport Applications for Travel to China,
1906-1925; Volume 14, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

leave of absence to develop a program. The University fully supported
the endeavor, which aligned with other colonial projects in the region.
The dean of liberal arts wrote: “T'he University is in entire sympathy
with Mr. Neithong’s [si¢] plan and wishes to commend it and lend it all
possible support, believing that it will do much to cement the friend-
ship between the Chinese people and the people of the United
States.”¢ In the summer of 1909, Ng and Greenlee, funded by local
Chinese American merchants, traveled to southern China and, with
help from Ng’s family working as intermediaries, recruited prospec-
tive children and teens.’” They found fifty potential students from vil-
lages in Guangdong Province, all of whom had family working in the
US.38

3¢ Arthur R. Priest, Affadavit, Dec. 20, 1909, box 1, folder 14, Ober Papers.

#71da K. Greenlee to R. A. Ballinger, March 16, 1909, Richard Ballinger Papers,
Special Collections, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.

*¥1da K. Greenlee to Immigration Inspector, Jan. 4, 1910, file 52, 753-13, box 800,
entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.
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The liberalization of regulations related to students led to many
issues for consulates, which now had to determine whether student
applications for a Section 6 certificate were in “good faith.” For
L. A. Bergholz, the consul at Guangzhou, Greenlee and Ng’s plans
appeared to be a scam. Previous applicants under the new guidelines
had already misled Bergholz about their intentions, only later discov-
ered to be laborers. In an attempt to weed out fraudulent cases,
Bergholz instituted a reading and writing test based on the Five
Chinese Classics, a process that the US Congress had been debating
since the late 1890s as a possible way to limit European immigration.
Those children who failed Bergholz’s test were denied a Section 6 cer-
tificate. As a result of this test, only twenty-three students, less than half
of those recruited, obtained certificates.?’

The examination outraged Greenlee, who used personal connec-
tions to force Bergholz to admit her students. She immediately con-
tacted the Department of Commerce and Labor and members of the
US Congress to advocate on her behalf. Secretary of State Philander
C. Knox believed Bergholz was “over-cautious” because of the prob-
lems he had faced in the past, and agreed that Bergholz’s examination
was beyond what the law allowed.*® Benjamin Cable, acting secretary
of commerce and labor, admitted that Bergholz had no specific instruc-
tons to follow when discerning if a student’s application was in “good
faith.” Each application “would necessarily vary almost incalculably in
each case.”*!

These complications did not stop Greenlee and Ng’s goal to
establish a school in the US, with plans to return to China to recruit
more students. In December 1909, they arrived in Seattle with
twenty-three students and, not far from the University of
Washington, organized the Ng-Lee School. Greenlee and two other
teachers, one of whom taught Chinese, worked with students while
Ng returned to China to recruit more children. In June 1910, Ng
arrived with additional students, including some whom Bergholz
had initally refused.*?

Another professor, Caroline Ober, assisted Ng with the second
round of recruitment. Born in Beverly, Massachusetts, a year after

*Ida K. Greenlee to Immigration Inspector, Jan. 4, 1910; and L. A. Bergholz to
Philander C. Knox, Jan. 13,1910, file 52, 753-13, box 800, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration
and Naturalization Service Files.

40Benjarnin Cable to Philaander C. Knox, Jan. 21, 1910, file 52, 753-13, box, 800,
entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

*'Benjamin Cable, to Philander C. Knox, March 19, 1910, file 52, 753-13, box
800, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

*Ida K. Greenlee to Immigration Inspector, Jan. 4, 1910, file 52, 753-13, box 800,
entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.
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the Civil War ended, Ober graduated in 1889 from the Massachusetts
Normal School in Salem (now Salem State University) and moved to
Argentina, where she was regent and vice-directress of the
Government Normal Schools for several years. In 1897, the
University of Washington appointed her to the faculty, where she
established and chaired the Department of Romantic Languages.*?
As part of the region’s interest in East Asia, Ober had also traveled
to China to develop possible affiliations with local colleges and univer-
sities and establish international exchanges for the University of
Washington.**

Figure 2. Portrait of Caroline H. Ober in the 1900 University of
Washington Yearbook. (The Tyee, University of Washington, Seattle,
27, Digital Collections, University of Washington, http://digitalcollec-
tons.lib.washington.edu/cdm /compoundobject/collection /uwdocs/id/
22580/rec/4)

*3Caroline Haven Ober, Passport Applications, Jan. 2, 1906-March 31, 1925; Roll
#: 173 - Certificates: 84481-85380, Nov. 16, 1912-Dec. 7, 1912, Immigration and
Naturalization Service Files; “For the University,” Seattle Post-Intelligencer, April 22,
1897, 5; The Tyee [University of Washington Yearbook] (Seattle: Junior Class of
the University of Washington, 1900), n.p.; and Caroline Haven Ober, obituary,
Seattle Times, June 4, 1929, 33.

44Myrl S. Myers to Chandler Hale, May 2, 1910, file 52, 753-101, box 803, entry
9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files; and Caroline H. Ober to
Thomas F. Kane, May 27, 1909, folder 8, box 130, Office of the President Records.

ssaid Aissanun abprique) Aq suljuo paysiiand z'gLoz'bau/z 1oL 0L/B40"10p//:sdny


http://digitalcollections.lib.washington.edu/cdm/compoundobject/collection/uwdocs/id/22580/rec/4
http://digitalcollections.lib.washington.edu/cdm/compoundobject/collection/uwdocs/id/22580/rec/4
http://digitalcollections.lib.washington.edu/cdm/compoundobject/collection/uwdocs/id/22580/rec/4
http://digitalcollections.lib.washington.edu/cdm/compoundobject/collection/uwdocs/id/22580/rec/4
https://doi.org/10.1017/heq.2018.2

276 History of Education Quarterly

Something went wrong after Ng and Ober arrived with a new crop
of students. Within a few weeks, Greenlee disbanded the school,
reportedly because the children “did not want to fraternize” with
each other. Greenlee later wrote to immigration authorities that con-
flict arose because the first group came from a more rural part of
Guangdong Province, while the second was from the British colony
of Hong Kong. Greenlee gave each a letter of dismissal and sent
them off to wherever their family lived in the US#

Later correspondence speaks to other problems among the
school’s organizers. Rev. Mark A. Matthews, a Presbyterian minister
in Seattle who orchestrated a later iteration of the school, wrote of a
conflict between Greenlee and Ober that caused them to part
ways.*¢ Ng also left Seattle in the fall of 1910 to attend Harvard
University, abandoning the project.*” Finally, the president of the
University of Washington, Thomas F. Kane, charged Greenlee with
academic dishonesty. She had misreported her publications and degree
in her application for promotion and pressured the registrar to falsify a
certificate for one of her students. Kane allowed Greenlee to retire
rather than face the embarrassment of termination.*® Perhaps aware
of Greenlee’s questionable conduct, Ng and Ober distanced them-
selves from her.

Although the intentions of organizers involved in the Ng-Lee
School seemed questionable, some students clearly wanted to come
to the US for an education. After the Ng-Lee School closed, a handful
of students wrote Ober about continuing their studies. Wong Sam
Yuen and his brother, Yen Yuen, attended a private school in
Lowell, Massachusetts, and hoped to transfer to public school.*’
Louis Chun Lam wrote that he and his brother attended a public
school in Oakland, California.’® Another Ng-Lee School student,

*1da K. Greenlee to Henry M. White, March 20, 1914, file 52, 753-12, box 800,
entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

*Mark A. Matthews to William Bauchop Wilson, Aug. 21, 1913, file 52, 753-13B,
box 801, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

¥ Harvard University Catalog, 1911—12 (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University,
1911), 214.

" A few years later, Kane wrote immigration authorities about Greenlee’s activ-
ities and accused her of “subterfuge.” Thomas F. Kane to Daniel J. Keefe, April 9,
1913, file 52, 753-13A, box 801, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization
Service Files; and Thomas F. Kane to John A. Rea, Oct. 5, 1910, folder 1, box 119,
Office of the President Records.

*Wong Sam Yuen and Wong Yen Yuen to Caroline H. Ober, Aug. 12, 1910,
folder 10, box 1, Ober Papers.

*°Louis Chun Lam, to Caroline H. Ober, Sept. 23, 1910, folder 10, box 1, Ober
Papers.

ssa.d Aussanun abprquied Aq auljuo paysiignd z'gL0z'bay/z 1oL 0L/b10"10p//:sdny


https://doi.org/10.1017/heq.2018.2

Immigration Restrictions and International Education 277

who moved to San Francisco, wrote: “I arrived here savely [sic] yester-
day. I thank you for your kindness brought me to this country for
school. T will go to school pretty soon.”’! Although the Ng-Lee
School experiment ended abruptly, students appreciated the educa-
tional opportunity, along with the possibility of living with family in
the US. For these students, pursuit of an education and family reuni-
fication were not necessanly separate goals.

Greenlee’s Bay Area Ng-Lee School

Closing the Ng-Lee School and being forced to retire from the
University of Washington did not stop Greenlee from returning to
China to recruit more students. Her new preparatory program, how-
ever, was structured much differently. To address the federal govern-
ment’s concerns, Greenlee first established a school in Hong Kong and
hired a handful of interpreters to work for her. All prospective students
had to train at the new school before going to the US. During this time,
Greenlee also monitored their academic progress and investigated
their families’ backgrounds before deciding to assist them in applying
for Section 6 certificates. “Under her plan her boys must come from
parents abundantly able to support them while at school in the
United States and must give other evidence of their good faith as
well as their educational promise.””? This new system, Greenlee
believed, solved the problems with the previous iteration of the
Ng-Lee School.

Like Greenlee’s Ng-Lee School, institutions for international
education were still in development in the late nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries and often involved considerable pedagogical
experimentation. Coordinators not only grappled with logistical issues
(such as room and board, transportation, course offerings, and immi-
gration regulations) but also had to ensure that incoming students
could meet the challenges of pursuing an education in another coun-
try. For example, Edward J. M. Rhoads in Stepping Forth into the World
lays out the ways in which Yung Wing recruited and trained students
for the Chinese Educational Mission (1872—1881) before sending them
to live with host families in Connecticut and Massachusetts. With few
exceptions, almost all students had limited English-language skills,
and had to go through an intensive preparatory program in both
China and the US. Once the Chinese Educational Mission coordina-
tors deemed a student proficient, he was allowed to attend schools near

*1Lee Foo to Caroline H. Ober, Aug. 13, 1910, folder 10, box 1, Ober Papers.
SZGeorge E. Anderson to Philander C. Knox, Dec. 6, 1911, file 52, 753-13, box
800, RG 85, entry 9, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.
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his host family’s home.’* As more programs appeared in the twentieth
century, it became clear to educators that students needed additional
training before entering American schools. Academic aptitude was
only one part of the recruitment process; linguistic and cultural com-
petencies also needed to be met to ensure a positive experience.””

As part of Greenlee’s Ng-Lee School in Hong Kong, she primar-
ily targeted families from the mainland who had fled the violence asso-
ciated with the 1911 Xinhai Revolution. The Revolution upended
every aspect of Chinese society, often placing families in dire eco-
nomic circumstances as the country fought to become a republic.
Colonialism only compounded problems, with Japan, the US, and
Western Europe jockeying for control over the country. Educational
reform—with overseas support—was central to founding the new
nation; however, limited resources and a lack of teachers meant fam-
ilies had to be creative if they wished to maintain or improve their
social position and ensure economic opportunities for their sons in a
changing political landscape. Obtaining an education and working for
family in the US was a promising strategy.’>

Like other educators and missionaries, Greenlee recognized the
opportunity to advance US influence in a new educational vacuum in
southern China, but American regulatory concerns compromised her
plans. State Department officials questioned every aspect of her new
preparatory program. Under normal circumstances, Chinese had to
reside in Hong Kong for at least a year before requesting travel papers
from the consulate there. Bergholz, who still viewed Greenlee con-
temptuously, had already warned officials in Washington, DC, “that
the bringing of these boys in America is not altogether of so philan-
thropic a character.””® The State Department recommended that
Hong Kong’s consul, George Anderson, use an abundance of caution
when examining Greenlee's requests. Anderson however, found no
problems with Greenlee’s applicants and gave them Section
6 certificates.

Possibly to avoid additional problems after closing the Ng-Lee
School in Seattle, Greenlee decided to move her program to the

»Edward J. M. Rhoads, Stepping Forth into the World- The Chinese Educational
Mission to the United States, 1872—81 (Hong Kong: Hong Kong University Press, 2011).

**David G. Scanlon, ed., luternational Education: A Documentary History (New York:
Bureau of Publications, Teachers College, Columbia University, 1960).

>>Robert Culp, Articulating Citizenship: Civic Education and Student Politics in
Southeastern China, 1912—1940 (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 2007).

**Benjamin S. Cable to Philander C. Knox, Jan. 16, 1912; George E. Anderson to
Philander C. Knox, Dec. 6, 1911; and Philander C. Knox to George E. Anderson,
March 7, 1912, file 52, 753-13, box 800, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and
Naturalization Service Files.

ssa.d Aussanun abprquied Aq auljuo paysiignd z'gL0z'bay/z 1oL 0L/b10"10p//:sdny


https://doi.org/10.1017/heq.2018.2

Immigration Restrictions and International Education 279

San Francisco Bay Area. Although San Francisco had a large and
vibrant Chinese American community, the city was also home to
Angel Island, the most notorious immigration processing center in
the country. Thus, despite their preparatory training and Section 6
certificates, when these students arrived at Angel Island in June
1912, immigration authorities viewed them through the lens of crim-
inality, conflating their Chinese identity with immigration fraud.

Lauritz Lorenzen, the Chinese inspector in charge, generated a
lengthy report for Samuel Backus, the commissioner of immigration
in San Francisco, that ridiculed Greenlee’s recruitment process.
Based on their appearance, “the applicants, at least in the majority of
cases, are not of the class which would be coming to the United Sates
for the purpose of studying for professions, but are the sons or relatves
of Chinese laborers or others in the United States.”>” Rumors had also
circulated about the intentions of the students and their families, some
of whom had reportedly already been deported.

In her interview with immigration authorities, Greenlee laid out
her plan to guarantee her students remained in complete alignment
with government regulations. To ensure the children did not work,
Greenlee required families to sign contracts guaranteeing their finan-
cial support and to provide $500 bank drafts in the name of each stu-
dent. In return, she agreed to be the students’ guardian and teacher for
up to five years, at the cost of $500 per year per student. After several
months of preparation, she supposedly selected the best students to
travel to the US. During the examination with the consul, each student
signed an agreement that he would recognize Greenlee’s guardianship,
presumably trumping familial responsibilities and expectations among
relatives in the US.

Additionally, Greenlee explained that she had hired two
teachers—Evelyn M. Burlingame and a Miss McCauley—to run the
San Francisco school while she recruited more students abroad.
Although not a certified teacher, Burlingame had worked as a mission-
ary in southern China and was fluent in Chinese. McCauley, a friend of
Greenlee’s from Seattle, was a public schoolteacher. After their initial
orientation at the school, the students were to be sent out to live with
white Christian families selected by Greenlee’s friend Reverend
Matthews.’® The families, she affirmed, could not use the students as
servants, which violated the law; their room and board would be paid
with funds from Greenlee. She told immigration authorities that the

*"Lauritz Lorenzen to Samuel Backus, June 24, 1912, file 52, 753-13, box 800,
entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalizaton Service Files.

>8Statement of Miss Ida K. Greenlee, June 18, 1912, file 52, 753-13, box 800,
entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.
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students would go to college or bible school before returning to China
to “spread the gospel.”

For Matthews, Greenlee’s embracement of white, middle-class
respectability and promotion of Protestant Christianity overseas posi-
tioned her preparatory academy above the criticism of immigration
authorities. He repeatedly wrote Backus about the Ng-Lee School.
In his letters, Matthews emphasized the religious nature of her work
and asserted that authorities should “show her every courtesy and
every advantage possible.” He went on to describe Greenlee as “work-
ing under the best Christian auspices and ... working unselfishly for
the good of the boys and for the establishment of closer relationships
between our beloved country and the Chinese Republic.”® In a later
letter justifying her activities to the newly appointed secretary of labor,
Matthews argued that Greenlee’s work was “clean, free from criticism
and above suspicion.”!

Greenlee fought criticisms with complaints of her own, especially
about the conditions at Angel Island. Oral histories, government doc-
uments, and poems carved and painted on the walls give voice to the
misery endured at the immigration station.®’> Greenlee’s initial com-
plaints to Backus vilified his employees as a mechanism to accelerate
her students’ legal entry.%? In another letter to the Department of
Commerce and Labor, Greenlee voiced concerns about the treatment
she received from staff, claiming that she was addressed with the
“greatest discourtesy” and “in an unjust manner.” She also expressed
outrage at the handling of her students. At length, Greenlee described
the “despair” students felt during their interactions with guards and
interrogators, as the students had been “imbued with the highest ideals
concerning the United States government” before their arrival.®* To
ensure she did not coach students to give certain answers, inspectors
had refused to allow her to speak to students before interrogations.

Frustrated that Greenlee had not mentioned any of these prob-
lems upon their earlier meeting, Backus requested his staff report on

*’Statement of Miss Ida K. Greenlee.

M. A. Matthews to Samuel W. Backus, June 4, 1912, file 52, 753-13, box 800,
entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

“'Mark A. Mathews to William Bauchop Wilson, Aug. 21, 1913.

?Him Mark Lai, “Island of Immortals: Chinese Immigrants and the Angel Island
Immigration Station,” California History 57, no. 1 (Spring 1978), 88-103; and Lee and
Yung, Angel Island.

®James E. Lynch, George W. Merritt, and Otto F. Schiller to San Francisco
Chamber of Commerce, July 15, 1912, file 52, 753-13, box 800, entry 9, RG 85,
Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

®Ida K. Greenlee to Charles Nagel, Sept. 13, 1912, file 52, 753-13A, box 801,
entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.
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the allegations. Charles Mehan, an inspector at Angel Island, wrote a
lengthy letter dismissing her statement. He retorted that officers did
not use “drawing-room language to be sure but neither was it that of
the Bowery.” He felt “Miss Greenlee’s complaint is wholly without
justification; the conditions were exactly the contrary to those claimed
by her.” Although other visitors and immigrants affirmed the harsh
conditions at Angel Island, Mehan felt that Greenlee wanted “all
rules and regulations laid aside in favor of her seventy-seven
Chinese wards.”® Greenlee’s students were admitted, and Backus
and his staff ignored her complaints.®

Officials in Washington, DC, responded to the second iteration of
Greenlee’s Chinese preparatory school and behavior toward immigra-
tion authorities with a call for vigilance. The commissioner-general, in
a letter to the acting secretary of commerce and labor, concluded:

The framers of the law certainly never intended that Chinese should be
brought into this country wholesale in the guise of students and then be
distributed to relatives throughout the land, with whom they can live and
for whom they can work while intermittently attending our public
schools, maintained at the expense of the taxpayers of the United States.®”

He went on:

“The word ‘student’ as used in the treaty and laws was intended to carry a
much higher and more restricted meaning.”®®

While the commissioner-general agreed that some supporters were
well intentioned, he also believed that Greenlee manipulated regula-
tions for her own purposes.

Although Greenlee promoted a positive image of her school, her
staff documented their own frustrations in keeping the program in line
with the expectations of immigration authorities. In a letter to
Matthews, Burlingame wrote that when the school relocated to East
Oakland, six children refused to move, even after school officials
threatened them with deportation. Two other students left for
Boston to live with their uncles. Another, who was sick, remained
with family in San Francisco. Burlingame noted, “If we let them go

% Charles Mehan to Samuel W. Backus, Sept. 10, 1912, file 52, 753-13A, box 801,
entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

%Samuel W. Backus to Daniel J. Keefe, Sept. 13,1912, file 52, 753-13A, box 801,
entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

67Daniel]. Keefe to Benjamin S. Cable, memo, July 6, 1912, file 52, 753-13, box
800, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

®*Daniel J. Keefe to Benjamin S. Cable, memo, July 6, 1912.
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free I am afraid we shall have trouble with others.”¢” Matthews replied
that Burlingame should go directly to Backus and have “these boys
arrested and deported.” He continued, “If they are not going to
study they must be sent back to China at once. No boy can come to
this country under our moral protection and abuse the confidence
we have imposed in him or that the government has imposed in
us.”’? Families requested the school intercede on their children’s
behalf; however, Matthews and Burlingame refused. Matthews later
remarked, “I have promised the government that we would be as strict
as they are and I believe the government will say they are now dealing
with honest men and women, who are sincerely and unselfishly trying
to educate the Chinese and Japanese boys and make Christians of
them.””! In the end, the courts allowed the boys to stay if they attended
school and procured a bond.”?
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Figure 3. Ng-Lee School portrait somewhere in the San Francisco Bay
Area (ca. 1912). File 53-440-48, Box 1521, RG 85, Immigration and
Nationalization Files.

69Evelyn M. Burlingame to M. M. Matthews, Nov. 4, 1912, file 53, 440-48/48A,
box 1521, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

"OM. A. Matthews to Evelyn M. Burlingame, Nov. 26, 1912, file 53, 440-48 /48A,
box 1521, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

"'"There is no information on whether Greenlee also recruited students from
Japan. W. L. Allen to Evelyn M. Burlingame, Dec. 3, 1912; Evelyn M. Burlingame
to M. A. Matthews, Dec. 3, 1912; and M. A. Matthews to Evelyn M. Burlingame,
Dec. 7, 1912, file 53, 440-48/48A, box 1521, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and
Naturalization Service Files.

"?H. Edsall to Daniel J. Keefe, Dec. 23,1912, file 53,440-48 /48A, box 1521, entry
9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.
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By 1913, the Ng-Lee School had confronted too many problems
to sustain itself. It could no longer afford the building in East Oakland
and needed a new physical home. To help with costs, Matthews and
Greenlee hoped to house students with families instead of the school
building; they never found white families to host them. Additionally,
the Immigration Bureau demanded Greenlee locate all of her former
students. Administrators in Washington wanted to investigate each
one for possibly becoming a laborer. Finally, paroling her last group
of students was the ultmate “injustice.” In spring 1913, the
Immigration Bureau redistributed Circular 220 to all ports of entry,
reminding inspectors that they could require students to submit a
$2,000 bond if they were suspected laborers.”? Greenlee and
Matthews were unable to pay for bonds and negotiated with authori-
ties to have students placed in their custody. A year later, the
Immigration Bureau relieved Greenlee and Matthews of their legal
responsibilities, and almost all of the students went to live with their
families around the US.”*

With the closing of the Ng-Lee School in East Oakland, contro-
versy continued to swirl around Greenlee and her students.
Immigration officials closely monitored them and threatened deporta-
tion; Greenlee also faced scrutiny. In a letter from Matthews to the
Immigration Bureau, he argued that Greenlee “has been fair and hon-
est with the government.” Someone in the Immigration Bureau under-
lined this phrase and wrote a question mark.”> In summer 1913,
Greenlee traveled again to recruit Chinese students. She told an immi-
gration inspector in Seattle about her plan to transport five hundred
children and then return them home to “form the nucleus of a move-
ment for much good.”’¢ For reasons unstated, Greenlee never returned
to the US with students. It is possible that—as someone committed to
giving Chinese students a Western education—she might have found
it easier to remain in China than continue to negotiate American
immigration laws. Immigration authorities had made it clear that
they did not embrace Greenlee’s conception of a preparatory

7*Ellis DeBruler to Daniel J. Keefe, February 14, 1913, file 52, 753-13A, box 801,
entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalizaton Service Files.

M. A. Matthews to William Bauchop Wilson, July 29, 1913; Ida K. Greenlee to
M. A. Matthews, Aug. 19,1913;]. B. Densmore to M. A. Matthews, Aug. 7, 1913, file 53,
440-48/48A, box 1521; F. H. Larned to Ellis DeBruler, March 21, 1914; and
M. A. Matthews to F. H. Larned, March 25, 1914, file 53, 590-43-44A, box 1784,
entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

M. A. Matthews to William Bauchop Wilson, July 29, 1913, file 53, 590-43-
44A, box 1784, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

7Statement of Miss Ida K Greenlee, March 26, 1913, file 53, 590-43-44-A, box
1784, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.
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education. By 1916, she was teaching at Canton Christian College in
Hong Kong.””

Other Preparatory Schools

Despite the debacle with Greenlee’s Ng-Lee Schools, other European
Americans embraced the model and recruited potential students in a
similar fashion in the early 1910s. The rhetoric of modernization and
uplift continued to be invoked to justify such programs and foster pos-
itive attitudes. Like Greenlee, they reached out to families with lim-
ited educational opportunities in China who might be seeking an
immigration pathway. The Pacific Northwest, with its colonial inter-
ests, was the preferred port of entry and location for most programs.
And, unsurprisingly, federal authorities persisted in questioning pre-
paratory schools as a way to circumventing the law and bring other-
wise barred children into the country. Their criticisms, however,
began to shift to the amounts of money that were exchanged in support
of these preparatory schools, tarnishing the reputation of white entre-
preneurs and confirming supposed Chinese criminality. Money was a
problem that all programs faced, combined with the federal govern-
ment’s skepticism, that facilitated their demise.

Greenlee’s attempts at educating young Chinese men became the
model for three other preparatory schools (and at least one failed iter-
ation) established in the years preceding World War I. In 1911, one
hundred Chinese students attended a special preparatory school at
Adelphia College, a Swedish Baptist institution in Seattle. Mark
Ging and Paul Lewis, two former Chinese American students, first
proposed the idea to Claude E. Stevens, a local attorney and head of
the school’s Commercial Department. Adelphia College, which des-
perately needed money, agreed to house and educate the students dur-
ing the 1911-1912 academic year. The students lived in the women’s
dormitory and a large private residence nearby. Stevens, whose parents
were reportedly missionaries in China, headed the school’s newly
established Chinese Department and hired Chinese American alums
to teach. The curriculum included both Chinese- and English-lan-
guage components.’s

""Ida K. Greenlee, Certificate 59850, Aug. 9, 1915, Consular Registration
Certificates, compiled 1907-1918, box 4918, vol. 122, General Records of the
Department of State, 1763-2002, RG 59, National Archives and Records
Administration, Washington, DC.

*Jean Anderson, “History of Adelphia College,” Adelphia College Records,
Swenson Swedish Immigration Research Center, Augustana College, Rock Island,
IL; and Commission on Industrial Relations, “Testimony of Claude E. Stevens,”
Industrial Relations: Final Report and Testimony, vol. 7, S.Doc. No. 64-415 at 6193 (1916).
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Problems, however, quickly emerged with Adelphia’s students,
reflecting once again the ways in which the federal government and
educational institutions struggled to work together. Despite receiving
Section 6 certificates from consular officials, immigration authorities at
Angel Island questioned their documentation, especially the “inade-
quacy of the maintenance arrangements.”’” Inspectors admitted forty
students, but required a $2,000 bond for each one to guarantee their
student status. Another fifty-six arrived at Seattle, where authorities
voiced similar concerns before admitting them under bond.®°
Stevens concluded that the bonds were “unreasonable” and “unneces-
sary,” noting that the bonding process humiliated students. He main-
tained that “affidavits and facts in the hands [of the] Seattle
immigration office show students complied with laws; attending col-
lege regularly; progressing rapidly; deportment above reproach; status
above question.”8!

Stevens’s claims of student participation and success, however,
did not align with the reality of Adelphia’s preparatory school.
Students insisted their parents had paid large sums of money to
cover expenses, but upon arrival, school officials demanded additional
payments for room and board. As a result, students quickly left the
institution to live with family. At the end of the year, twenty-one of
the initial ninety-six students remained, and Stevens closed down
the program.®’

After the program closed, federal authorities questioned Stevens’s
financial interests in the preparatory school at Adelphia. A letter to US
Senator Wesley L. Jones mentioned that Stevens had received $10,000
to bring the proposed hundred Chinese students to the US.®* During a
congressional hearing on human smuggling a few years later, members
of Congress questioned Stevens about the monies he had personally
received, including payments for his and his wife’s travels to China,
along with the costs associated with temporarily suspending his law
practice. His success in bringing students to the US was also rewarded

79Benjamin S. Cable to Miles Poindexter, Feb. 14, 1912, folder 10, box 134,
Special Collections, Miles Poindexter Papers, University of Washington, Seattle,
WA (hereafter Poindexter Papers).

89Miles Poindexter to Claude E. Stevens, Dec. 11, 1911, folder 10, box 134,
Poindexter Papers.

81Claude E. Stevens to Miles Poindexter, telegram, Feb., 12,1912, folder 10, box
134, Poindexter Papers.

82Commission on Industrial Relations, “Testimony of Henry A. Monroe,”
Industrial Relations, 6177.

T H. Davis to Wesley L. Jones, Feb. 13,1912, Wesley L. Jones Papers, folder 11,
box 125, Special Collections, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
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monetarily. Stevens, however, refused to state the exact amount he
received, and no charges were filed against him.%*

At least one preparatory school was established along the Eastern
Seaboard. Sarah A. Hing, a European American woman who had mar-
ried a Chinese national and had taught English for a few years in
Guangzhou, championed the project. In spring 1911, she contacted
Hervey S. Cowell, principal at Cushing Academy in Ashburnham,
Massachusetts, about admitting a group of students. Cushing
Academy had recently offered English-language classes to Chinese
college students, including some sponsored by the US government,
and supported international education. Cowell agreed, and Hing
sent a bank draft to cover their first quarter at Cushing Academy.

Upon Hing’s and her students’ arrival in Seattle, immigration offi-
cers questioned the legitimacy of her program. In lieu of acceptance
letters, Hing had asked Cowell to send a receipt for her initial payment
to the commissioner of immigration in Seattle, trying to legitimize her
plans with federal authorities; however, officials held her students for
over a month, and they did not reach Massachusetts until November.
Cowell had no place to house the students and had to find host families
in the community. The program was further jeopardized when he real-
ized the students—with one exception—spoke no English, even
though Hing had said that she had taught them English in preparation
for their studies before leaving China. Rev. ]. J. Miller, a pastor at a local
congregational church, organized English-language classes for the
students.®’

Student attendance—as with Adelphia—quickly became an issue,
with only three of the original twenty students returning after winter
break. Their abandonment of Cushing Academy did not mean that
these students were uninterested in an education. A handful of students
wrote Cowell, stating that “they could get along cheaper and go into
public schools where their relatives lived.”®¢ Four other boys asked the
principal at the Jones Public School in Chicago to write letters on their
behalf affirming their transfer.” Nevertheless, federal authorities
viewed them as another group of Chinese breaking American immi-
gration laws. The acting secretary of commerce and labor, Benjamin

¥ Commission on Industrial Relations, “Testimony of Claude E. Stevens,”
Industrial Relations, 6196.

¥ Commission on Industrial Relations, “Testimony of Hervey S. Cowell,”
Industrial Relations, 6003—6005.

%Commission on Industrial Relations, “Testimony of Hervey S. Cowell,”
Industrial Relations, 6006.

¥ Thomas C. M. Jamieson to Hervey S. Cowell, n.d, as cited in Commission on
Industrial Relations,“Testimony of Hervey S. Cowell,” 6008.
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S. Cable, complained to Senator Miles Poindexter that not only had
the students left the program but the famlly members who had claimed
to finance their education were also “creatures of imagination only.”%8
The students apparently lacked the financial support they had pro-
fessed to federal authorities that they had.

The US Congress questioned Hing about the profits made from
bringing students to the US. During a congressional hearing in Seattle,
she testified before a Senate panel that she only brought students as a
“favor” and received no financial compensation. Families paid for
transportation and $25 for tuition and room and board.3” Senators,
however, deemed her untruthful. Their primary concern was Hing’s
marriage to someone of Chinese ancestry, whom they suspected of
being in the country illegally. Hing admitted she had very little edu-
cation but argued that she was still a capable teacher. She had previ-
ously claimed that the Woman’s Christian Temperance Union and the
Young Women’s Christian Association supported her work, but no one
at those organizations recognized her name. When testifying before
the Senate, Cowell commented that Hing did not write or speak
English well and he would “not have wanted her as a teacher of
English in our school.” Cowell also found her to wear “considerable
jewelry” and her attire “cawdry.””° In the mind of the congressional
panel, Hing compromised white, middle-class respectability, not
only by her commitment of miscegenation but also by smuggling
Chinese into the US for profit.

Ober—who had already traveled once to China to recruit students
for the Ng-Lee School—faced similar hurdles on her second and third
ventures. Once again, immigration authorities used funding issues to
question her intentions and accuse students of illegally entering the
US. Additonal problems with consular officials, who complained
about Ober’s neglect of diplomatic protocols, only compounded the
problems surrounding the possible establishment of a successful prepa-
ratory school for Chinese students. Even collaboration with Chinese
officials—with the hope of creating a program immigration and diplo-
matic authorities would deem legitimate—did not buffer her from
criticisms.

88Benjalmin S. Cable to Miles Poindexter, March 5, 1912, folder 10, box 134,
Poindexter Papers.

% Commission on Industrial Relations, “Testimony of Sarah E. Hing,” Industrial
Relations, 6207—6212; and Commission on Industrial Relations, “T'estimony of Moy
J. Hing,” Industrial Relations, 6212—6220.

*’Commission on Industrial Relations, “Testimony of Hervey S. Cowell,”
Industrial Relations, 6011—6014.

ssa.d Aussanun abprquied Aq auljuo paysiignd z'gL0z'bay/z 1oL 0L/b10"10p//:sdny


https://doi.org/10.1017/heq.2018.2

288 History of Education Quarterly

In spring 1912, a group of Chinese Americans in Seattle peti-
tioned the University of Washington’s Board of Regents to permit
Ober to recruit upwards of a hundred students to attend schools in
the region. The Board of Regents agreed to give her a yearlong sab-
batical and a letter of introduction to officials at the Educational
Bureau in Guangdong Province.”! Unlike other recruiters, Ober
worked with Chinese officials to identify students whose families
had the necessary financial means to send their children to the US.”?
By working with the Chinese government, she was supposedly able to
obtain scholarship funds for each student, $960 per student for each
year they attended school.”? Ober’s preparatory school—although
not sanctioned by the American government—appeared to be much
more in line with the Boxer Indemnity Scholarship Program, which
had been established with funds remaining from the reparations paid
to the US after the Boxer Uprising. Despite overpayment, the
Roosevelt administration refused to return the money to China out-
right and instead established Tsinghua College to give students an
American education, with the possibility of sending them to the US
for further postsecondary studies. The Boxer program, like its
Japanese counterpart, became another way for the US to expand its
influence in China.”*

Ober’s collaboration with Chinese officials, however, potentially
marginalized the American government’s authority over international
education. W. K. Chung, commissioner of education in Guangdong,
promoted Western educational models in China and spoke positively
about Ober’s work. T'o support his reforms, Chung similarly turned to
Chinese American and European American merchants and white
Protestant missionaries for possible funds, not the American govern-
ment.?” In a letter to the president of the University of Washington,
Chung wrote:

“"Educational Bureau of Kwang Tung to the Board of Regents of the University
of Washington, July 29, 1912, folder 14, box 1, Ober Papers; and Thomas F. Kane to
Caroline H. Ober, Sept. 6, 1912, folder 9, box 1, Ober Papers.

?Educational Bureau of Kwang Tung to the Board of Regents of the University
of Washington, July 29, 1912; and Caroline H. Ober to Thomas F. Kane, Aug. 28,
1912, folder 14, box 1, Ober Papers.

?3Caroline H. Ober to Thomas F. Kane, Aug. 28, 1912, folder 14, box 1, Ober
Papers.

Ye, Seeking Modernity in China’s Name, 9—11.

“4Dr. W. K. Chung Visits America,” New York Observer, Sept. 7, 1911, 293;
“China’s Awakening,” National Humane Review 2, no. 3 (March 1914), 59; and Dong
Wang, Managing God’s Higher Learning: U.S.-China Cultural Encounter and Canton
Christian College (Lingnan University), 1888—1952 (Lanham, MD: Lexington Books,
2000). In 1916, Chung spoke at the Seattle China Club, consisting mostly of
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No doubt, the bringing of knowledge from abroad is a great factor for the
elevation of China’s educational standard; but equally important is the
helping of students to go abroad, whereby, besides the attainment of
school knowledge and study of great theories from books, they are offered
greater sphere of observation and investigation.”®

He ended his letter simultaneously playing to early twentieth-
century racial attitudes among whites and pointing to more positive
US and China relations. “I have no doubt that America will continue
to lead her sister republic by the hand until she can walk safely alone.
hope the day is not far off when China and America will understand
each other better and prove each other friends as friends have never
been.”®” Like other Chinese and Chinese American intermediaries,
Chung manipulated racial attitudes embedded in American colonial-
ism to forward his own agenda.

Unfortunately, even with support from the Chinese government,
money problems soon appeared within Ober’s preparatory program.
Before she left for China, Ober obtained an agreement to house and
educate students at Vashon College in Burton, Washington.
Founded in 1892, Vashon College was a semipublic institution that,
by 1904, included a military school and seminary. A devastating fire
destroyed the college’s main building in 1910, and the school tempo-
rarily closed.”® W. G. Parkes, president of Vashon College—who
embraced both the role of American education in Chinese uplift and
the potential of monetary gain by establishing such programs—was
eager to use his institution for preparatory purposes. His plans
included a rigorous education with many of the attributes of a private
school: uniforms for all the students, domestic services, and policies for
leaves and pocket money.””

Within months of establishing the program, Parkes wrote to Ober,
documenting numerous financial issues, starting with the federal gov-
ernment’s bonding requirements. He also lacked the tuition funding
necessary to properly run the school, as Ober had recruited fewer
than the proposed hundred students but had not increased tuition
for those who did attend. Parkes, however, still needed to pay teachers

European American merchants, about the relationship between education and inter-
national trade. Chang, Pacific Connections, 188—89.

W K. Chung to Thomas F. Kane, Oct. 16, 1912, folder 14, box 1, Ober Papers.

TW. K. Chung to Thomas F. Kane, Oct. 16, 1912.

?8Caroline H. Ober to Thomas F. Kane, Aug. 28,1912; and W. G. Parkes “Vashon
College and Academy,” March 3, 1914, Office of the President Records, folder 8, box
130; University of Washington.

W. G. Parkes to Caroline H. Ober, Sept. 16, 1912; W. G. Parkes to Caroline
H. Ober, Sept. 25, 1912, folder 15, box 130; Oftfice of the President Records.

ssa.d Aussanun abprquied Aq auljuo paysiignd z'gL0z'bay/z 1oL 0L/b10"10p//:sdny


https://doi.org/10.1017/heq.2018.2

290 History of Education Quarterly

and staff and have funds for supplies. In a letter to Ober, he explained
the direness of the situation:

I cannot feed the boys any longer unless I receive some money. And I must
admit to myself that I cannot guarantee teachers or light and heat after this
week, so if my threat to starve the boys does not bring some action I do not
at this writing know what I shall be doing next.!%

The school limped along for another few months, but was $1,500
in debt by spring. Additional problems arose that hurt Parkes’s ability
to maintain a successful program. One student had to be sent to a san-
atorium and remained under a doctor’s care for over a month.!°! In
April, a student named Tam Wye died while visiting Seattle with
classmates. His father, who lived in San Diego, sent funds to bury
him in Seattle.!?? After Tam’s funeral, several boys refused to return.
Parkes mentioned in his letters that he had no punishment other than
the threat of deportation.!??

Parkes contacted Ober multiple times about funding before
finally asking students to write their families about the school’s finan-
cial situation. Their families had apparently paid Ober a significant
amount of money and did not understand why it was not enough to
support the school. Parkes managed to keep the school afloat until
the end of the school year. By May, he fired the school’s janitor and
engineer and was doing their work himself. Additionally, Parkes, his
cook, and the students had to cut firewood to heat the buildings and
cook.!%* The school finally closed and the students went to live with
family. In an undated letter, a school official reported that two students
were ready to attend high school, while the rest were prepared for sixth
grade.!®®

Questions surrounding Ober’s recruitment activities led to addi-
tional accusations by both the American and, later, Chinese govern-
ments. Authorities, again, fixated on the sums of money given to
Ober and her associates to bring Chinese students to the US.
Additionally, because she chose to work directly with Chinese author-
ities, complaints emerged around diplomatic etiquette. Upon her

199W . G. Parkes to Caroline H. Ober, Jan. 27, 1913, folder 8, box 130, Office of the
President Records.

19'W G. Parkes to Caroline H. Ober, Jan. 27, 1913.

1923 G. Parkes to Caroline H. Ober, May 6, 1913, folder 8, box 130, Office of the
President Records.

'W. G. Parkes to Caroline H. Ober, May 6, 1913.

1%4W. G. Parkes to Caroline H. Ober, May 6, 1913.

mSGeorge E. St. John to Caroline H. Ober, n.d,, folder 8, box 130, Office of the
President Records.
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arrival in Guangzhou, Ober did not work with Consul-General
F. D. Cheshire’s office but met directly with Chinese government offi-
cials. Cheshire informed Ober that she needed to consult with the State
Department when making arrangements with a foreign government;
however, she ignored him, even after Cheshire warned that she was
breaking the law.!%¢ Once in southern China, American and Chinese
officials accused Ober and her affiliates of unethical financial practices
in taking large bank drafts from families. Chinese officials also notified
the consul-general’s office that Ober required an additional $25 fee per
student be paid directly to her.!%

Accusations eventually followed Ober back home. The Searrle
Times ran several articles accusing a small number of white residents,
including unnamed faculty from the University of Washington, of
smuggling Chinese into the country under the pretense of attaining
an education.!’® Over a week later, University of Washington presi-
dent Thomas Kane, wrote the Commissioner of Immigration in
Washington, DC, about Ober and Greenlee and whether “these teach-
ers were helping the Chinese to evade the immigration laws.”'%” The
University’s Board of Regents demanded that Ober explain her actions
in writing, and the Washington state legislature reportedly established
a committee to investigate her conduct.!!?

Ober—like many other whites who brought Chinese students to
the US—expressed outrage at the damage such accusations caused her
reputation. “Nothing could ever be more remote from my intention
than to bring any discredit upon my university and—as for myself—
isitnecessary to say that [ would never knowingly do a dishonest action
or one against the laws of any country?” To prove her honesty, she
emphasized her refusal of funds from Chinese American merchants
in Seattle, while simultaneously ignoring accusations from federal
authorities, the press, and Vashon College. “All expenses have been
paid out of my own—or my brother’s—funds. I could not do otherwise

'9F. D. Cheshire to Caroline H. Ober, April 23, 1913, folder 14, box 1, Ober
Papers.

197F D. Cheshire to Caroline H. Ober, April 23, 1913.

"% David Paul, “Gigantic Conspiracy to Smuggle Chinese into U.S. Suspected,”
Seattle Times, March 25, 1913, 1; “Thirty Chinese Sull Barred Out Of Nation,” Seartle
Times, March 23, 1913, 18; and Seartle Times, editorial, March 27, 1913, 6., folder 14,
box 1, Ober Papers.

1% Thomas F. Kane to Ellis DeBruler, April 1913, file 52-753-13B, box 801, entry
9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

%] E. Campbell to William B. Wilson, May 19, 1913, includes undated resolu-
ton, file 52, 753-13B, box 801, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Files.
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and remain free to act unhampered.”!!! It is unknown whether Ober
was censured or not; however, by fall 1913, she had returned to the
Spanish Department, abandoning her preparatory program
completely.

Despite the hurdles white entrepreneurs faced, they still brought
young men—who otherwise did not have the opportunity—to the US
for a preparatory education in the early 1910s. To facilitate legal entry,
European Americans used their social and cultural capital, justifying
these programs as a form of racial uplift and modernization that
expanded American influence overseas. Other evidence suggests that
many families wanted an American education for their children but
found it to be more affordable to educate their children while living
with family after legally entering the country through one of these pro-
grams. Ultmately, immigration authorities believed such schools under-
mined the law, and they were determined to curtail them. Expenses,
including a desire for profits among organizers and exorbitant federal
bonding requirements, made programs unaffordable. Attacks on people’s
reputations only compounded matters. The American government—
while supporting international education—wanted more control over
the process to ensure its influence over the functioning of international
education programs in China and the US.

Conclusion

By summer 1913, a variety of developments led to the decline of pre-
paratory schools for Chinese students in the US. The federal govern-
ment firmly established an elaborate process of evaluation and
observation to deter possible preparatory schools and non-govern-
ment-sponsored students. To stop their immigration, the federal gov-
ernment also worked tirelessly to justify refusing Section 6 certificates,
make entry cost prohibitive, and monitor movements to establish
cause for deportation. At the same time, immigration authorities
tried to round up and deport former preparatory students already in
the country. Ng Lan Pun, who entered the US with Greenlee, was
working in a restaurant in La Grande, Oregon, when immigration
inspectors arrested him. He had already lived in the US for six
years, three years beyond the period when authorities could deport
an immigrant who had legally entered the country. The

" Caroline H. Ober to William Markham, Aug. 1, 1913, University of
Washington Board of Regents Records, folder 24, box 4, Special Collections,
University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
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Immigration Bureau grudgingly permitted him to stay, but cancelled
his Section 6 certificate.!!?

Despite the moralistic and educational rhetoric found in the cor-
respondence of American educators, the lack of profits from establish-
ing preparatory programs for Chinese students also deterred white
entrepreneurs. The costs in China had become particularly prohibi-
tive, where intermediaries demanded a cut of the profits, refusing to
provide free services to well-paid European Americans. For example,
Morrison Reid traveled to southern China in 1913 to recruit students
for a new preparatory school hosted by the University of Puget Sound
in T'acoma, Washington. Chinese American merchants paid for his and
his wife’s travels and gave him $2,000 in gold. After his interpreters
demanded $200 per student successfully engaged, Reid quit the pro-
ject and went on a tour of northern China. The US consul-general in
Guangzhou wrote that it was “not known whether Mr. Reid returned
any of the $2,000, gold, furnished him or not, butitis presumed that he
used the money on his tour of the Orient.”!!? Unscrupulous entrepre-
neurs like Reid did not help programs find success.

Turmoil in China also contributed to the end of preparatory
schools, as national leaders struggled to create a republic.
Recruitment in southern China had become dangerous. In a letter to
the secretary of the University of Washington’s Board of Regents,
Ober explained, “All business in this province is now at a standstill,
so it may be that all these educational plans will have to be left unfin-
ished.” Soon afterward, she evacuated Guangzhou, which she
described as a “firing zone.”!!'* In a report for the secretary of state,
Guangzhou’s consulate office believed Ober would not travel to
China again because of the nation’s political climate and increasing
violence. “She confessed that her last venture was a complete failure [emphasis
in the original].”'"> With war also raging in Europe, large-scale
recruitment of students ceased by January 1915.116

"?John H. Sargent to Anthony J. Caminetti, Sept. 9, 1915; Anthony J. Caminetti to
John H. Sargent, Sept. 28, 1915, file 52, 753-12, box 800; and Alfred Hampton to John
H. Clark, June 5, 1916, file 53, 590-43-44A, box 1784, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and
Naturalization Service Files.

"BJohn K. Davis, to William Jennings Bryan, Jan. 5, 1914, file 53, 620—65, box
1831; and Ellis DeBruler to William B. Wilson, memo, April 30, 1913, file 53, 620—
75, box 1831, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

" Caroline H. Ober to Board of Regents, Nov. 13, 1913; and Caroline H. Ober to
William Markham, Aug. 1, 1913, folder 8, box 130, Office of the President Records.

"5John K. Davis to William Jennings Bryan, Jan. 5, 1914, file 53, 62065, box
1831, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.

"SF.D. Cheshire, to William Jennings Bryan, Jan. 14, 1915, file 53, 620-65, box
1831, entry 9, RG 85, Immigration and Naturalization Service Files.
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The attitudes and behaviors tied to recruiting large numbers of
less educated and poorer students to attend preparatory schools
speak to the limits of early twentieth-century immigration policy
and the mission among some European Americans to internationalize
education. Although the 1907 regulations liberalized the Immigration
Bureau’s definition of a student, authorities had not anticipated the
establishment of preparatory schools and, with them, the arrival of
the children of laborers. In response, they used every possible resource
to legally deter admitting those they perceived as less than desirable.
Internal problems and conflicting agendas did not help the image of
preparatory schools and instead affirmed the belief among federal
authorities that European Americans, with support from Chinese
and Chinese Americans, broke immigration law for monetary pur-
poses. An article in the Seartle Times went so far as to assert such pro-
grams were smuggling rings run by “a syndicate of wealthy but
unscrupulous Chinese and American citizens.”!!” Ultimately, the
questionable nature of preparatory schools not only hurt their rela-
tionship with immigration officials but also speaks to the larger diffi-
cultes of balancing the promotion of international education with
immigration regulations that targeted a specific nation.

Despite the disappearance of preparatory schools, Chinese stu-
dents continued to be important to the debates surrounding
American immigration restrictions and international education in
the early twentieth century. Ironically, the number of Chinese college
students increased after World War I, with affluent and well-con-
nected families sending their sons and a small number of daughters
to the US. For the most part, federal authorities encouraged such edu-
cational opportunities, such as the Boxer Indemnity Scholarship
Program, which they believed to be an important part of American
colonial power. And, despite expressing positive attitudes, immigra-
tion authorities still closely monitored Chinese students throughout
this period to ensure that they did not become laborers.!!8

The tension between American immigration regulations and edu-
cational opportunities for Chinese and, by extension, all international
students 1s an ongoing problem even today.

"""Paul, “Gigantic Conspiracy to Smuggle Chinese into U.S. Suspected.”
"8Hsu, The Good Immigrants, 21-80.
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